Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-27-2014

Boswell v. Steele Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41684

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Nature of the case

This case is a dog bite and premises liability case. Rather generic in its facts. it involves Steve Boswell who had the back of his hand removed by the dog bite; Steve's mother-in-law, Mary Steele, who harbored the dog¹, Steve's niece, Amber Steele, who owned the dog², and the dog, Zoey, who had bitten at least two other people on at least two prior occasions³.

(ii) Course of proceedings in the trial court

Plaintiffs brought their action for common law strict liability for dog bite, negligence, negligence *per se*, and premises liability. (R. 42-48). Plaintiffs relied on prior Idaho case law, the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §§ 509 and 513, *Restatement (Third) of Torts* § 23, Idaho Code § 25-2805(2), and Pocatello Municipal Ordinance 6.04.050 and 6.04.060 concerning abnormally dangerous dogs. Plaintiffs filed for partial summary judgment on two counts and on some of Defendants' affirmative defenses. (R. 73). Defendants also filed for Summary Judgment. (R. 160).

The trial court disposed of Plaintiffs' case. The trial court handled the *Restatements of the Law* by not addressing them at all. (R. 456-466). The court brushed aside the Idaho statute, concluding that the two prior bites were insufficient to put the owners on notice that the dog was abnormally dangerous. (R. 464, L.15-16). The City Ordinance allows only one defense for the owner of a biting dog and that one defense is provocation. The trial court ruled, as a matter of law, that Steve's holding out his closed hand towards the dog was provocation. (R. 464, L.24).

Plaintiffs filed a motion to reconsider to no avail.

This matter is now before this Court on Appeal.

(iii) Concise statement of the facts

On October 8, 2011 Steve Boswell gave his mother-in- law, Mary Steele, a ride, as was his customary routine whenever she needed a ride. (R. 460, L.20-1). When he brought her home he

¹ R. 186-7, L.25-17, pp 16-17

² R. 184, L. 24-25, of page 6

³ R. 516-517, L. 15-10

helped her to her door, as was his customary routine whenever he brought her home. (R.460, L.21). When they entered the house, Steve went to the small toddler gate between the living room and the kitchen, as was his customary routine whenever they entered. (R. 219, L.21 of page 29). There, he would routinely open the gate and allow Mary's pet Shih Tzu to enter the living room with him and Mary where they would typically visit a while. (R. 219, L.16-21 of page 29; R. 221, L. 12 of page 36).

On this occasion, something happened that was not routine. Besides Mary's Shih Tzu, a Scottish Terrier stood on the other side of the toddler gate. (R. 461, L.5). The Terrier belonged to Steve's niece, Amber Steele. (R. 459 L. 11-12). Amber resided with Mary. (R. 459, L. 9-10). The Terrier was usually kept locked in the basement—and for good reason. (R.460, L. 16-17). Unbeknownst to Steve, but soon to be discovered by him, the Terrier had a rather nasty disposition. When Steve offered the Terrier the back of his hand to sniff, the Terrier removed the back of Steve's hand with its teeth. (R. 461, L. 6-7).

The Terrier had priors. On at least two previous occasions the dog had drawn blood from its victims. (R. 459-60, L. 15-20). If we include the incident referred to in the letter from the insurance adjuster, John Billquist, the dog had shown abnormally dangerous propensities on at least three prior occasions. (R. 77).

The undisputed facts are these:

- 1. Defendant, Mary Steele, owned the property located at 1115 Verdugo in Pocatello, Idaho. (R. 759, L. 6-8).
- 2. Defendant, Amber Steele, was Mary's granddaughter and resided with her at that address. (R. 459, L. 9-10).
- 3. Amber owned a Scottish Terrier named Zoey that also resided at Mary's residence. (R. 459, L. 11-12).
 - 4. Mary Steele harbored the dog named Zoey. (R. 186-7, L. 25 of p. 16 17 of p. 17).
- 5. Prior to the incident where Mr. Boswell was bit on October 8, 2011, there have been at least two incidents where Zoey had bitten someone. The first known incident, according to the records, was when Zoey bit Amber's friend, Chris Kettler, at a barbeque party held at Mary's house. The bite drew blood, and was bandaged. (R. 459-460, L.15-3).

- 6. The second known incident, according to the record, is based on Karina Boswell's testimony that she witnessed one of Amber's friends got bit by Zoey at a party at Mary's house. The friend's wound also drew blood. (R. 750, L. 9-10).
- 7. There was a gate in the kitchen to keep Mary's dog from making a mess on the carpet. For the most part, Amber kept Zoey in a room in the basement when Amber was out of the house. (R. 460, L. 16-17)
- 8. Mr. Boswell had spent some time with Zoey before the incident. Zoey let Mr. Boswell pet Zoey and she had played on Steve's lap. (R. 460, L. 18-19).
- 9. On the day of the incident, October 8, 2011, Mr. Boswell gave Mary a ride home after a visit at the Boswell's home. Mr. Boswell went inside Mary's home with Mary. (R. 460, L. 20-21).
- 10. When Mr. Boswell and Mary entered the home, Amber was not in the house. Zoey and Mary's dog were in the kitchen behind the gate, Zoey was barking. (R 461, L. 1-3).
- 11. Mr. Boswell walked over to the gate to pet Zoey, who was on the other side of the gate. He extended his right hand to Zoey. As he reached his hand towards the dog, Zoey bit his hand and took a hunk of flesh from Mr. Boswell's hand. (R. 461, L. 9-7).
- 12. Mr. Boswell went to the hospital to have his injuries treated. A report was made by animal control officer, Tamara Andersen. (R.461, L. 8-12).

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The issues of this appeal are as follows:

ISSUE 1:	Is the Standard in McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Assoc'n, 17
	Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015 (1909), Pertaining to Injury by Domestic Animals Still
	Good Law in Idaho?

Is the Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 509 (1977) Good Law in Idaho?

Issue 3: Is the *Restatement (Third) of Torts*, Phys. & Emot. Harm, § 23 (2010) Good Law in Idaho?

Issue 4: Is the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 513 (1977) Good Law in Idaho?

Did the District Court Err in Concluding That Neither Mary Steele Nor Amber Steele Owed Any Duty to Steve Boswell to Protect Him from Their Vicious Dog.

Did the District Court Abuse its Discretion in Making Unwarranted Conclusions of Law That Should Have Been Issues of Fact.

ISSUE 7: Did the District Court Err in Striking the Affidavit of Tamara Andersen.

Did the District Court Err in Ruling That an Insurance Adjuster, Who Makes Himself a Fact Witness, Is Immune from Testifying?

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

The law of appellate practice requires a party to include any argument for fees in the opening brief. Plaintiffs recognize that one's assessment of the merits of any case is, to some degree, a matter of perspective. But plaintiffs are troubled more than usual by the outcome of this case and how that outcome was reached.

Plaintiffs are troubled by the fact that the trial court in its opinions, and the defense in its briefing, declined to even mention the *Restatements of the Law* that seem pertinent to this case. Plaintiffs are troubled by the fact that the trial court in its opinions, and the defense in its briefing, declined to even discuss whether Idaho, like forty-seven other states and the District of Columbia, will hold a dog owner responsible for dog bites that occur when the owner already knows the dog will bite. Plaintiffs are troubled by the fact that the trial court in its opinions, and the defense in its briefing, declined to even address the authoritative articles and the decisions of other jurisdictions that interpret *McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Assoc'n*, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015 (1909) the same way as plaintiffs do.

Plaintiffs are troubled that the trial court made many findings of fact in favor of the defendants to whom the court then granted summary judgment.

On an abiding belief that the trial court's decision is indefensible on appeal, plaintiffs ask for attorney fees to be awarded on this appeal against the defense under Idaho Code § 12-121.

5

ARGUMENT

1. The Standard in McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Assoc'n, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015 (1909) Pertaining to Injury by Domestic Animals is Still Good Law in Idaho.

McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Assoc'n, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015 (1909), is the authoritative case on animal injury law. In McClain the Idaho Supreme Court said:

One of the early cases in this country considering the legal principles involved in the case at bar, under the facts as alleged in the complaint is that of Decker v. Gammon, 44 Me. 322, 69 Am, Dec. 99, and in our opinion states the rule correctly, as follows: "If domestic animals, such as oxen and horses, injure any one, in person or property, if they are rightfully in the place where they do the mischief, the owner of such animals is not liable for such injury, unless he knew that they were accustomed to do mischief; and, in suits for such injuries, such knowledge must be alleged and proved, for, unless the owner knew that the beast was vicious, he is not liable. If the owner had such knowledge, he is liable.

104 P. 1015, at 1020. (Emphasis added).

The McClain case is still good Idaho law. Suer v. Valentine, No. CV 2011-2846 (First Judicial District, 2012 WL 894476 (2012). The McClain case is cited in several secondary sources as standing for the position that Idaho is a common law "one bite rule" strict liability jurisdiction. Liability results when the abnormally dangerous propensities of the offending animal are known to the owner or harborer. At least three other authorities read the McClain decision the same way as Plaintiffs. Allison E. Butler, 33 Causes of Action 2d 293 (Originally published in 2007); Adam P. Karp, J.D., M.S. 38 Causes of Action 2d 281 (Originally published in 2008); Georde Duckler, Ph.D., Esq. Animal Wrongs: On Holding Animals to (and Excusing Them from) Legal Responsibility for Their Intentional Acts. 2 J Animal L. & Eth. 91, 121 (2007).

All three reach the same conclusion. Consider the following quotes:

"A person injured by a domestic animal may bring a common-law strict liability action against the owner or keeper of the animal. McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Ass'n, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015 (1909). In order to establish a prima facie case in a common-law strict liability action the plaintiff must prove that he or she was injured by a domestic animal, that the animal had dangerous propensities, and that the defendant knew of the animal's propensities prior to the time the injury was suffered. The fact that the owner exercised care in keeping the animal is no defense. McClain, above."

33 Causes of Action 2d 293 § 52 (Originally published in 2007). (Emphasis added).

"Contrast this with <u>Idaho</u>, which establishes common law strict liability without proof that the defendant failed to exercise reasonable care: demonstrating scienter is all that is required. McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Asso'n, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015 (1909)."

38 Causes of Action 2d 281 § 5 [Cumulative Supplement] (Originally published in 2008). (Emphasis added).

"Strict Common Law Liability: <u>A common law strict liability action may be brought against the owner or keeper of the animal McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Ass'n, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015 (1909). In order to establish a prima facie case, the plaintiff must prove injury by a domestic animal, having dangerous propensities that the defendant knew of prior to the time the injury was suffered. The fact that the owner exercised care in keeping the animal is no defense."</u>

38 Causes of Action 2d 281 § 42 (originally published in 2008). (Emphasis added).

Currently, animals—minds, bodies, and all—are personal property under the law, and as with all personal property are treated as having owners. Animal owners, in turn, are those upon whose shoulders rest the obligation to adhere to social norms resulting from ownership. As owned objects, animals are currently free of personal obligation. In essence, animals have the unfettered freedom to do whatever it is they wish to do ...; it is those who own the animals who are truly fettered by assuming the legal responsibility for the animals' actions. McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Ass'n, 104 P.1015. 1021 (Idaho 1909).

Georde Duckler, Ph.D., Esq. Animal Wrongs: On Holding Animals to (and Excusing Them from) Legal Responsibility for Their Intentional Acts. 2 J Animal L. & Eth. 91, 121 (2007). (Emphasis added)

The *McClain* decision has also attained its share of notoriety by the Supreme Courts of other states. Consider the following:

The essence of the action is not ownership, but the keeping and harboring of an animal, knowing it to be vicious. One who keeps a savage dog is bound to secure it against it doing mischief. Vide Quilty v. Battie, supra; Oakes v. Spaulding, 40 Vt. 347, 94 Am.Dec. 404; Smith v. Royer, 181 Cal, 165, 183 P. 660; McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Ass'n, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015, 25 L.R.A., N.S. 691, 20 Ann. Cas. 60; Lanna v. Konen, 119 Conn. 646, 478 A 425.

Barber v. Hochstrasser, 136 N.J.L. 76, 80, 54 A.2d 458, 460 (Sup. Ct. 1947). (Emphasis added)

The gist of an action for damages by a vicious dog, who propensities are known, is not negligence in the manner of keeping the dog; it is keeping the dog at all; and the action is founded upon the theory of maintenance of a nuisance, not negligence. Jaco v. Baker, 174 Or. 191, 148 P.2d 938. The essence of the action is not

ownership, but the keeping and harboring of an animal, knowing it to be vicious. One who keeps a savage dog is bound to secure it against its doing mischief. *Vide Quilty v. Battie*, [135 N.Y. 201, 32 N.E. 7, 17 L.R.A. 521] supra; *Oakes v. Spaulding*, 40 Vt. 347, 94 Am.Dec. 404; *Smith v. Royer*, 181 Cal. 165, 183 P. 660; *McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Ass'n*, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015, 25 L.R.A.,k N.S. 691, 20 Ann Cas. 60; *Lanna v. Konen*, 119 Conn. 646, 178 A 425.' *Barber v. Hockstrasser*, 136 N.J.L. 76, 54 A.2d 458, 460.

Hunt v. Hazen, 197 Or. 637, 639-40, 254 P.2d 210, 211 (1953).

The *McClain* decision is accepted by other authorities as affirmation that Idaho's position on the law is, as advocated by the plaintiffs but rejected by the trial court: If an owner or harborer knows of a dog's abnormally dangerous nature, the owner or harborer is liable for injuries caused.

Of the 50 United States and the District of Columbia, forty-eight are strict liability jurisdictions. The strict liability jurisdictions are divided into two categories: Those which, by statute make a dog-owner strictly liable for the injuries caused by the dog, regardless of prior knowledge of the dogs propensities; and the others, like Idaho, that adopt the common law rule dating back to English law, which is, as expressed in *McClain*: "[U]nless the owner knew that the beast was vicious, he is not liable. If the owner had such knowledge, he is liable." The following chart outlines the position of the United States Jurisdictions:

Alabama	Ala. Cod § 3-7-1	Strict Liability
Alaska		One-Bite Rule
Arizona	Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 11-1025 Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 11-1020	Strict Liability
Arkansas		One-Bite Rule
California	Cal C.V. Code § 3342	Strict Liability
Colorado	Colo. Rev. Stat. 13-21-124	Strict Liability
Connecticut	Conn. Gen Stat. § 22-357	Strict Liability
Delaware	9 Dela. Code § 913	Strict Liability
D.C.	D.C. Code Ann. § 8-1812	Strict Liability
Florida	Fla. Stat. Ann. §§ 767.01 Fla. Stat. Ann. §§ 767.04	Strict Liability

Georgia	GA Code Ann. § 51-2-7	The owner or keeper of a "vicious or dangerous" animal may be liable for injuries (Caused by the dog through careless management or by allowing the dog to go at liberty (off leash or otherwise not under control)
Hawaii	Haw. Rev. Stat. §§ 663-9, 663-9.1	Owner liable if animal was known to be dangerous, or if plaintiff proves that owner was negligent.
		One-Bite Rule
Idaho		One-Bite Rule
Illinois	510 Ill. Cop. Stat. §5/16	Strict Liability
Indiana	Ind. Code 15-20-1-3	Strict Liability
Iowa	Iowa Code Ann. § 351.28	Strict Liability
Kansas		One-Bite Rule
Kentucky	Ky. Rev. Stat. § 258.235	Strict Liability
Louisiana	La. Civ. Code arc. 2321	Strict Liability
Maine	Me. Rev. State Ann. Tit., § 3961	Strict Liability
Maryland		One-Bite Rule
Massachusetts	Mass. Gen. Laws ann. Ch, 140 § 155	Strict Liability
Michigan	Mich. Comp. Laws Ann § 287-351	Strict Liability
Minnesota	Minn. State Ann. § 347.22	Strict Liability
Mississippi		One-Bite Rule
Missouri	Mo. Rev. Stat. 273.036	Strict Liability
Montana	Mont. Code Ann. § 27-1-715	Strict Liability
Nebraska	Neb. Rev. Stat. § 54-601	Strict Liability
Nevada		One-Bite Rule

New Hampshire	N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann § 466-19	Strict Liability
New Jersey	N.J. Stat. Ann § 4-19-16	Strict Liability
New Mexico		One-Bite Rule
New York		One-Bite Rule
North Carolina	N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 67-4-4	The owner of a dangerous dog shall be strictly liable in civil damages for any injuries or property damage the dog inflicts upon a person, his property, or another animal
North Dakota		One-Bite Rule
Ohio	Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 955.28	Strict Liability
Oklahoma	Okla. Stat. Ann. tit. 4 § 42.1	Strict Liability
Oregon		One-Bite Rule
Pennsylvania	3 Pa. Stat. § 459-502 (b)	Strict Liability
Rhode Island	R.I. Gen. Laws § 4-13-16	Strict Liability
South Carolina	S.C. Code Ann. § 47-3-110	Strict Liability
South Dakota		One-Bite Rule
Tennessee	Tenn. Code Ann. § 44-8-513	(1) The owner of a dog has a duty to keep that dog under reasonable control at all times, and to keep that dog from running at large. A person who breaches that duty is subject to civil liability for any damages suffered by a person who is injured by the dog while in a public place or lawfully in or on the private property of another. (2) Such a person may be held liable regardless of whether the dog has shown

		any dangerous propensities or whether the dog's owner knew or should have known of the dog's dangerous propensities.
Texas		One-Bite Rule
Utah	Utah Code Ann. § 18-1-1	Strict Liability
Vermont		One-Bite Rule
Virginia		One-Bite Rule
Washington	Wash. Rev. Code Ann. § 16.08.040	Strict Liability
West Virginia	W. Va. Code § 19-20-13	Strict Liability
Wisconsin	Wis. Stat. Ann. § 174.02	Strict Liability
Wyoming		One-Bite Rule

Coulter Boeschen "One-Bite" v. Strict Liability Rules for Dog Bite Injury Cases, http://www.allaw.com/articles/nolo/personalinjury/one-bite-strict.liability-dog-bite.html.

Idaho law presents an interesting dichotomy. Idaho is a statutory strict liability state if the dog bites about anything that moves other than a human being. Idaho Code § 25-2806 provides:

The owners, possessor, or harborer of any dog or animal that kills, worries, or wounds any livestock and poultry which are raised and kept in captivity for domestic or commercial purposes, is liable to the owner of the same for the damages and costs of suit, to be recovered before any court of competent jurisdiction.

Like the other thirty-one strict liability states, knowledge of abnormally dangerous propensities, is not even an issue: if the dog injures — the owner is liable.

But what if it isn't poultry or livestock that is injured? What if it is a human being? What then? The Boswells submit here, as they did below, that the *McClain* case, and the *Restatement of Torts*, sets the standard. The district court gave all of Steve Boswell's arguments the short shrift with the following:

The question presented in *McClain* is whether the animal has trespassed or not. If the animal has trespassed, then the owner is strictly liable. If the animal has not

trespassed and is lawfully where it is entitled to be, then the owner is only liable if they have knowledge of the vicious character of the animal.⁴

(R. 462, L.23-27).

With that, the trial court summarily struck all of plaintiff's arguments that were grounded in Idaho Common Law and the *Restatements*. The trial court then declared that if Plaintiff had any cause of action at all it could only be in negligence. (R. 462, L.32).

Such is not the law in Idaho. If it was, there would be no need for Idaho Code § 25-2805(2) which provides:

Any dog which, when not physically provoked, physically attacks, wounds, bites or otherwise injures any person who is not trespassing, is vicious. It shall be unlawful for the owner or for the owner of premises on which a vicious dog is present to harbor a vicious dog outside a secure enclosure. A secure enclosure is one from which the animal cannot escape and for which exit and entry is controlled by the owner of the premises or owner of the animal.

The toddler gate, that anyone can reach their hand over, is not a secure enclosure. Mary and Amber both knew that Zoey had physically attacked before. (R.459, L.15-16). Even by the trial court's rendition of the law, they should have been liable for the destruction of Steve Boswell's hand.

2. The Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 509 (1977) is Good Law in Idaho.

The Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 509 (1977) provides:

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