UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-1-2014

Boswell v. Steele Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41684

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

IV. ARGUMENT.

A. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT IDAHO HAS NEVER ADOPTED STRICT LIABILITY IN DOG BITE CASES.

The District Court properly granted summary judgment on the Boswells' strict liability claim, as the Idaho courts have never adopted or applied strict liability to dog bite or premises liability cases.

Idaho has only adopted the concept of strict liability in cases dealing with a seller of a defective product to a consumer. This was set forth in the case of *Shields v. Morton Chemical Company*, 95 Idaho 674, 518 P.2d 857 (1974). In that case, this Court adopted a concept of strict liability in torts as stated in the Restatement of Torts 2nd § 402a, which pertained to a seller of a defective product to a consumer. The seller needs to be engaged in the business of selling the

product and the product is expected to and does reach the consumer without substantial change in the condition in which it was sold. *See Shields*, 95 Idaho at 676, 518 P.2d at 859. While Idaho has continued to adopt the concept of strict liability, it is has been within the confines of the Restatement of Torts 2nd § 402a concept. Idaho has not adopted strict liability in dog bite cases.

In their opening brief, the Boswells give short shrift to to *McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair and Racing Association*, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015 (1909) in support of their position on appeal. However, *McClain* does not impose strict liability. In *McClain*, this Court dealt with two causes of action, negligence and trespass. In 1909, this Court did not expand the concept of negligence and trespass⁵ to impose strict liability. The Boswells'' argument to the contrary is an erroneous reading of the case. The quote on page 79 of the *McClain* decision must be read in its proper context. That context puts the quote as follows:

One of the early cases in this country considering the legal principles involved in the case at bar, under the facts as alleged in the complaint, is that of *Decker v. Gammon*, 44 Me. 322, 69 Am. Dec. 99, and in our opinion states the rule correctly as follows: "If domestic animals, such as oxen and horses, injure anyone, in person or property, *if they are rightfully in the place where they do the mischief*, the owner of such animals is not liable for such injury, unless he knew that they were accustomed to do mischief. And in suits for such injuries, such knowledge must be alleged, and proved. For unless the owner knew that the beast was vicious, he is not liable. If the owner had such knowledge he is liable."

"The owner of domestic animals, *if they are wrongfully in the place where they do any mischief*, is liable for it, though he had no notice that they had

5

In citing to *McClain*, Mary Steele and Amber Steele do not acknowledge, but rather continue to oppose that they were negligent in any manner, as will be discussed in more detail in the remainder of this brief. In addition, the Boswells have never asserted any trespass claim.

been accustomed to do so before. In cases of this kind the ground of the action is, that the animals were wrongfully in the place where the injury was done. And it is not necessary to allege or prove any knowledge on the part of the owner, that they had previously been vicious."

This case clearly draws the distinction between that class of cases cited by counsel for appellant and that class of cases coming under the allegation of the complaint in this case. Where it is alleged, as in the case at bar, that the animal is wrongfully at the place where the mischief is done, the owner is liable for the damage done, if any, although he had no notice that such animal possessed the trait or characteristic of doing the particular thing which caused the injury. The right of action arises by reason of the fact that as against the plaintiff the animal causing the injury is a trespasser, is unlawfully at the place where the injury occurs and at which place the plaintiff has a legal right to be. So in the case at bar the allegations of the complaint are to the effect that the plaintiff was invited by the fair association to engage in riding a race upon the grounds controlled by the fair association and at a time when the air association was conducting its fair, thus clearly showing the plaintiff to be a licensee upon the racetrack at the time the accident occurred. Then follow the allegations that the defendants unlawfully, wrongfully, negligently and wantonly permitted the dog in controversy to go upon, run over such racetrack and come in contact with the horse ridden by the plaintiff which occasioned and caused the injury for which damages are sought. Under these facts it was not necessary to allege or prove any particular trait or characteristic of the dog, or that the defendants had knowledge that such dog, or the class of dogs to which the same belonged, possessed any peculiar trait or characteristic, or the trait or characteristic which led it to the place and to do the act which caused the injury. (Decker v. Gammon, 44 Me. 322, 69 Am, Dec. 99; Chunot v. Larson, 43 Wis. 536, 28 Am. Rep. 567, 2 Cyc. 373; 1 Thompson on Neg., 888.) These authorities seem to be in line with the reason of the case.

McClain, 17 Idaho at 79-80, 104 P. at 1020-21 [italics in original][underscore supplied].

If Idaho were adopting a strict liability standard in 1909, this Court certainly would not have phrased its holding in terms of the status of the allegations in the complaint which were negligence and trespass by a dog and its owner. In fact, strict liability was not pled in 1909 in *McClain*; it was **RESPONDENTS BRIEF ON APPEAL - PAGE 12**

not the legal theory in 1909, and is not the holding of *McClain*. This is clearly indicated when this Court, in *McClain*, discussed its holding as opposed to a discussion of the *Decker v*. *Gammon*, 44 Me. 322, 69 Am. Dec. 99, case. On pages 81 and 82, this Court issued its true holding in which it clearly supported that liability in *McClain* is based on theories of negligence and trespass. In that regard, this Court stated:

The dog is generally recognized as an essential part of every well-regulated family, and of a higher degree of intelligence than other domestic animals, and given privileges not generally conceded to other members of the animal family. But we are inclined to the opinion that notwithstanding this fact, and notwithstanding the fact that the dog occupies a higher position in the social world of the animal family, and an important one in human affairs, still that the owner of such animal should not be excused from liability for injuries done by the dog when invading the rights of person or property. This position that the dog has well earned, by reason of his heroic acts and deeds of valor, might be a reason for exacting from the owner a higher duty as to responsibility for the dog's acts, but it certainly is not a reason why the owner of such animal should be not equally responsible for the wrongs done by a dog as for wrongs done by other domestic animals. And we believe, both upon reason and authority, that when a dog invades and trespasses upon the legal rights of a person and injures person or property, and such invasion and trespass is the result of the negligence of the owner, the owner is liable for the damages done. Emphasis supplied.

17 Idaho at 81-82. 104 P. at 1021.

Clearly, this Court in *McClain* did not expand the pleadings of the plaintiff from negligence and trespass to strict liability. There has been no case cited by the Boswells since *McClain* to indicate that this Court has adopted strict liability in dog bite cases, and this Court should not do so

here.

The Boswells cite to non-binding treatises for their strained interpretation of McClain as

holding Idaho allows for strict liability in dog bite cases. Again, the Boswells' position lacks merit. Again, strict liability was not pled in 1909 in *McClain*; it was not the legal theory in 1909, and is not the holding of the *McClain* court, as clearly indicated therein,. *See, McClain*, 17 Idaho at 81-82, 104 P. At 1021. *McClain* never adopted or applied strict liability to dog bite or premises liability cases. Further, if Idaho were adopting a strict liability standard in 1909, this Court certainly would not have phrased its holding in terms of the status of the allegations in the complaint which were negligence and trespass by a dog and its owner. And, again, under the Boswells' erroneous position, like the facts in this case, a person could reach their hand into a dog pen, receive a dog bite and then have no responsibility for their own behavior that initiated the incident. Idaho's tort system has never endorsed such lack of personal responsibility. *See Idaho Code § 6-801 et. seq.*

Further, as the Boswells fail to provide the Court with any law in Idaho applying strict liability in dog bite or premises liability cases, they attempt to deflect from this by citing the Court to non-binding case law/statutes of other states. It appears the Boswells obtained these citations from some legal compilation or treatise, and did not carefully read or scrutinize them. Again, the glaring fact the Boswells cannot escape is that **Idaho is not a strict liability state, along with Hawaii, Kansas, North Dakota** (see, *Sendelbach v. Grad*, 246 N.W. 2d 496, 501 (N.D. 1976) (premises liability), **Vermont and Virginia. Indiana presumes a dog is harmless and applies strict liability only where a letter carrier is involved. Nevada actually requires two bites in an eighteen month period, without provocation** (N.R.S. 202.500)(2013). **Rhode Island only applied strict**

liability if the dog gets out of its enclosure. DuBois v. Quilitzsch, 21 A.3d 375, 380 (R.I. 2011). Additionally, there are states that require the plaintiff show the owner knows or reasonably knows the dog is vicious or dangerous, and, of those, South Dakota-Gehrts v. Batteen, 620 N.W. 775, 778 (S.D. 2001) and Tennessee, Fletcher v. Richardson, 603 S.W.2d 734, 735-36 held that the showing of knowledge was a negligence, not strict liability, theory. In Alaska, summary judgment was granted to the defendant animal owner, since the plaintiff knew of the animal's dangerous propensities (Hale v. O'Neill, 492 P.2d 101, 104 (Alaska 1971). New Mexico has a similar law to Alaska. Smith v. Village of Ruidoso, 994 P.2d 50, 54 (N.M. Ct. App. 1999). Other states held that provocation, comparative fault and assumption of risk theories applied in such cases (Priebe v. Nelson, 140 P.3d 848, 849 (Cal. 2006); Russo v. Zeigler, 67 A.3d 536 (Del.Sup. Ct. 2013); District of Columbia (D.C. Code § 8-1902(b)(1)(B); Florida, Fla. Stat. Ann. §767.04 (2013) (comparative fault applies); VanBeheren v. Bradley, 640 N.E. 2d 664, 666-67 (III. Ct. App. 1994); Fouts v. Mason, 592 N.W.2d 33,36 (Iowa 1999); Pepper v. Triplet,864 So. 2d 181, 191-92 (Louisiana 2003); Audette v. Comm., 829 N.E.2d 248, 255 (Mass. 2005); Hill v. Sacka, 666 N.W. 2d 282, 287-88 (Mich. Ct. App. 2003); Engquist v. Loyas, 803 N.W. 2d 400, 403 (Minn.2011); Nebraska. Rev. Stat. 54-601(b)(2013); Bohan v. Ritzo, 679 A.2d 597, 601 (N.H. 1996). Nevertheless, Idaho is not a strict liability state, and has never recognized strict liability in dog bite cases.

Moreover, the District Court correctly concluded the Boswells did not cite to any authority that expressly or implicitly establishes that Idaho has adopted strict liability in dog bite cases.

Much like the Boswells argued in their prior submissions, they never cited one Idaho case, including *McClain, supra*, where strict liability was recognized as a claim in a dog bite or premises liability case in Idaho. The Boswells asserted, both before the District Court and this Court, that because non-binding, treatises and foreign law allow for strict liability(most of which do not support the Boswells' position, as previously asserted), then Idaho is a strict liability state. However, simply because there may be case law in other jurisdictions does not change the fact that such law is non-binding authority, and the only authority that is binding is Idaho law. The District Court certainly recognized this, as evidenced by its citation to *McClain*, as follows:

If domestic animals, such as oxen and horses, injure anyone, in person or property, **if they are rightfully in the place where they so the mischief, the owner of such animals is not liable for such injury, unless he knew that they were accustomed to do mischief.** And in suits for such injuries, such knowledge must be alleged, and proved. For unless the owner knew that the beast was vicious, he is not liable. If the owner had such knowledge he is liable. The owner of domestic animals, **if they are wrongfully in the place where they so any mischief, if liable for it, though he has no notice that they had been accustomed to do so before.** In cases of this kind the ground of the action is, that the animals were wrongfully in the place where the injury was done. And it is not necessary to allege or prove any knowledge on the part of the owner, that they has previously been vicious.

Where it is alleged, as in the case at bar, that the animal is wrongfully at the place where the mischief is done, the owner is liable for the damage done, if any, although he had no notice that such animal possessed the trait or characteristic of doing the particular thing which caused the injury. The right of action arises by reason of the fact that as against the plaintiff the animal causing the injury is a trespasser, is unlawfully at the place where the injury occurs and at which place the plaintiff has a legal right to be.

R., pp.461-462. Further, the District Court properly explained how McClain did not establish strict

liability:

It appears to the Court that *McClain* does not establish recovery based on strict liability. The question presented in *McClain* is whether the animal trespassed or not. If the animal has trespassed, then the owner is strictly liable. If the animal has not trespassed and is lawfully where it is entitled to be, then the owner is only liable if they have knowledge of the vicious or dangerous character of the animal. There is no dispute in the record that Zoey was rightfully in Mary's kitchen. Amber stayed in Mary's home and Mary consented that Amber could keep Zoey in her home. At the time of the bite, Zoey was in the kitchen behind the gate. Furthermore, Plaintiffs cannot cite to any authority that expressly or implicitly establishes that Idaho has adopted strict liability in dog bite cases. If Plaintiffs are to recover, it will be if the Defendants were negligent.

R., p. 462. It was readily apparent to the District Court that Plaintiffs failed to cite to any Idaho law

where strict liability has been adopted in dog bite cases or premises liability cases. Further, in

denying the Boswells' motion for reconsideration the District Court reasoned that in McClain,

The Court therein clearly did not hold that strict liability is the law in Idaho in a dog bite case such as the instant action. No Idaho case law in the subsequent one hundred plus years has been cited as adopting this position no matter how the law in other states may have developed. It is not the trial courts[sic] responsibility to move the law beyond that which the Idaho Supreme Court have [sic] previously determined.

R., p. 484. Thus, it is abundantly clear the Boswells' citations to non-binding case law, treatises and to the Restatement (Second and Third) of Torts lacks merit. Again, the only time strict liability has been allowed in Idaho is in products liability cases. *See, Shields v. Morton Chemical Company*, 95

Idaho 674, 676, 518 P.2d 857, 859 (1974). The District Court properly followed Idaho law, which does not recognize strict liability in cases other than products liability, in granting summary judgment.

B. THE DISTRICT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT THAT MR. BOSWELL WAS NOT AN INVITEE.

Mr. Boswell was not an invitee; rather, he was a social guest or licensee, as he rendered an incidental service to Mary Boswell-he drove her home-and never conferred any monetary, business or commercial benefit to Mary Steele. A social guest is a licensee, and a guest rendering a minor incidental service to the landowner does not change the guest from being considered a licensee. *Wilson v. Bogart*, 81 Idaho 535, 545, 347 P.2d 341, 347 (1959). As a social guest, or licensee, a landowner is only required to share with the licensee *knowledge of dangerous conditions or activities* on the land. *Evans v. Park*, 112 Idaho 400, 401, 732 P.2d 369, 370 (Ct. App. 1987)(emphasis supplied). Additionally, the Supreme Court has held that the fact that a guest may be rendering a minor incidental service to the host does not change the relationship between them as landowner and a licensee. *Wilson*, 81 Idaho at 545, 347 P.2d at 347. *See also, Mooney v. Robinson*, 93 Idaho 676, 471 P.2d 63 (1970).

In this case it is undisputed Mr. Boswell was Ms. Steele's son-in-law. R., p. 184 (Mary Steele Depo., p. 6, 11.7-9). It is undisputed Mr. Boswell was taking Ms. Steele home after a family gathering. R., p. 217 (Stephen Boswell Depo., p.23, 1.17-p.24, 1.23). It is further undisputed neither

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